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December 6, 2023 

Michelle Anderson 
Office of the President 
Brooklyn College 
2129 Boylan Hall   
Brooklyn, New York 11210 

URGENT 

Sent via Next Day Delivery and Electronic Mail (bcpresident@brooklyn.cuny.edu) 

Dear President Anderson: 

The Foundation for Individual Rights and Expression (FIRE), a nonpartisan nonprofit 
dedicated to defending freedom of speech,1 is concerned by Brooklyn College’s demand that 
Master of Fine Arts graduate student Morgan Patten remove two signs expressing pro-
Palestinian sentiments from her studio door. While the Israeli-Palestinian conflict is 
undoubtedly a divisive issue, public institutions like Brooklyn College may not restrict student 
expression due to fear of disruption stemming from the views expressed.  

Our concerns arise out of the extent to which Brooklyn College assigns Patten personal studio 
space as an MFA student, where since October she has without incident displayed two door 
signs that say, “Free Palestine” and “Zionism is fascism.”2 On November 18, Brooklyn College 
held Open Studios, a public event in which visitors may view students’ studio spaces and 
artwork. During the event, an anonymous individual reported Patten’s signs to campus police. 
Two officers arrived and demanded she remove the signs, for the ostensive reason that no 
posters are allowed on doors.3 Patten complied, placing the signs inside her studio—but also 

 
1 For more than 20 years, FIRE has defended freedom of expression, conscience, and religion, and other 
individual rights on America’s college campuses. You can learn more about our recently expanded mission 
and activities at thefire.org. 
2 The recitation of facts here reflects our understanding of the pertinent information. We appreciate that you 
may have additional information to offer and invite you to share it with us. To these ends, please find 
enclosed an executed privacy waiver authorizing you to	share information about this matter. 
3 Despite Patten’s signs being clearly visible to campus police completing nightly rounds for over a month 
prior to Open Studios, she was never told they violated a school policy or asked to remove them until the 
complaint made on November 18.  
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observed several posters on office doors just down the hall from her studio, where they 
remained in place not only that night, but to this day.4  

On November 29, Eto Otitigbe, an assistant professor and the MFA co-deputy, notified Patten 
the complaint about her signs had been escalated to the legal department.5 Otitigbe requested 
a meeting with Patten and Mona Hadler, the art department chair under Otitigbe.6 That 
meeting was originally scheduled for December 6, but is now being rescheduled for a later date.  

Patten bumped into Hadler later in the day on November 29, and they discussed the issue. 
Hadler acknowledged Patten has the right to free speech, but Hadler also said campus police 
have the authority to remove posters from doors. She did not explain why others’ door signs 
and artwork were able to remain up while Patten’s signs had to come down. Hadler said her 
primary concern was that Patten not rehang the signs when she moves to new studio space next 
to the administrative offices and art history classroom a few weeks hence, because Hadler 
wants to keep peace in the department. Patten told her she was considering hanging a piece of 
artwork about war on her door, and Hadler told her that would likely be fine.  

On November 30, Hadler reported that legal counsel confirmed Patten’s signs violated the 
posting policy because the door is college property and provided a link to the policy.7 The policy 
reads: “Do not place any postings on college walls, entrances, grounds, etc. These will be 
removed.”8 

Brooklyn College’s forcing Patten to remove her signs, requiring her to meet with 
administrators, and signaling to her that she should not hang signs on her new studio space—
even as other users remain free to post their signs or artwork—raises serious constitutional 
concerns.  

As a public institution, Brooklyn College’s restrictions on student expression must comport 
with the First Amendment.9 While public colleges may establish “reasonable restrictions on 
the time, place and manner” of speech and expressive activity,10 those rules must be viewpoint- 

 
4 Enclosed please find photos of posters and other various hangings still allowed to remain on other doors 
nearby. 
5 Email from Eto Otitigbe, Assistant Professor, to Morgan Patten, student (Nov. 29, 2023, 11:18 AM) (on file 
with author).  
6 Id.  
7 Email from Mona Hadler, Art Dept. Chair, to Patten (Nov. 30, 2023, 7:41 AM) (on file with author).  
8 Campus Beautification Project, Guidelines for Posting, BROOKLYN COLL. (visited Dec. 1, 2023), 
https://www.brooklyn.edu/dosa/special-
projects/beautification/#:~:text=Guidelines%20for%20Posting,any%20of%20the%20bulletin%20boards 
[https://perma.cc/H7VT-DXXK]. 
9 Healy v. James, 408 U.S. 169, 180 (1972) (“[T]he precedents of this Court leave no room for the view that, 
because of the acknowledged need for order, First Amendment protections should apply with less force on 
college campuses than in the community at large. Quite to the contrary, ‘the vigilant protection of 
constitutional freedoms is nowhere more vital than in the community of American schools.’”) (internal 
citation omitted). 
10 Ward v. Rock Against Racism, 491 U.S. 781, 791 (1989).  
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and content-neutral, narrowly tailored to serve a significant government interest, and leave 
open ample alternative channels for communication.11 Brooklyn College’s policy prohibiting 
posters on doors appears to comply with this principle on its face, but it runs afoul of the First 
Amendment when selectively enforced based on the content and message of the poster, as 
amply illustrated by Brooklyn College’s demand that Patten remove her signs, apparently for 
no reason other than their message. 

Demanding that Patten remove her signs, while allowing other posters on office doors in the 
same area to remain in place, is an impermissible content- and viewpoint-based restriction. 
The “bedrock principle underlying” the First Amendment is that authorities “may not prohibit 
the expression of an idea simply because society finds the idea itself offensive or 
disagreeable.”12 This is especially particularly true in the context of a college, where “conflict 
is not unknown”13 and “dissent is expected and, accordingly, so is at least some disharmony.”14 
There is “no room for the view that, because of the acknowledged need for order, First 
Amendment protections should apply with less force on college campuses than in the 
community at large.”15 Nor is the desire to quell potential disagreements in the art department 
a valid reason for selectively restricting Patten’s speech. As one federal appellate court has 
explained, “desire to maintain a sedate academic environment does not justify limitations” on 
expressive freedoms.16 

Given the urgent nature of this matter, we request a substantive response to this letter no later 
than close of business Wednesday, December 13, 2023, confirming Brooklyn College will apply 
its posting policy in a viewpoint-neutral manner.  

Sincerely, 

Jessie Appleby 
Program Officer, Campus Rights Advocacy 

Cc:  Mona Hadler, Art Department Chair 
Eto Otitigbe, Art Department Co-Deputy 
Sarah Luke, Executive Legal Counsel and Labor Designee 

Encl. 

11 Id.  
12 Texas v. Johnson, 491 U.S. 397, 414 (1989). 
13 Hulen v. Yates, 322 F.3d 1229, 1239 (10th Cir. 2003).  
14 Highbee v. E. Mich. Univ., 399 F. Supp.3d 694, 704 (E.D. Mich. 2019).  
15 Healy, 408 U.S. at 180.  
16 Rodriguez v. Maricopa Cnty. Comm. Coll. Dist., 605 F.3d 703, 708 (9th Cir. 2009); see also Tinker v. Des 
Moines Ind. Cmty. Sch. Dist., 393 U.S. 503, 508 (1969) (“[U]ndifferentiated fear or apprehension of disturbance 
is not enough to overcome the right to freedom of expression.”). 



Authorization and Waiver for Release of Personal Information 
 
 
I,                                                         , born on                                   , do hereby authorize 
                                                                                               (the “Institution”) to release 
to the Foundation for Individual Rights and Expression (“FIRE”) any and all information 
concerning my current status, disciplinary records, or other student records maintained by 
the Institution, including records which are otherwise protected from disclosure under the 
Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974. I further authorize the Institution to 
engage FIRE’s staff members in a full discussion of all matters pertaining to my status as a 
student, disciplinary records, records maintained by the Institution, or my relationship with 
the Institution, and, in so doing, to fully disclose all relevant information. The purpose of 
this waiver is to provide information concerning a dispute in which I am involved. 

 
I have reached or passed 18 years of age or I am attending an institution of 
postsecondary education. 

 
In waiving such protections, I am complying with the instructions to specify the records 
that may be disclosed, state the purpose of the disclosure, and identify the party or class of 
parties to whom disclosure may be made, as provided by 34 CFR 99.30(b)(3) under the 
authority of 20 U.S.C. § 1232g(b)(2)(A). 

 
This authorization and waiver does not extend to or authorize the release of any 
information or records to any entity or person other than the Foundation for Individual 
Rights and Expression, and I understand that I may withdraw this authorization in writing 
at any time. I further understand that my execution of this waiver and release does not, on 
its own or in connection with any other communications or activity, serve to establish an 
attorney-client relationship with FIRE. 

 
I also hereby consent that FIRE may disclose information obtained as a result of this 
authorization and waiver, but only the information that I authorize. 

 
 
 
 
    Student’s Signature                                                          Date 

DocuSign Envelope ID: A7BAF688-2E11-4F07-9AE3-304191BE5DFB

Morgan Patten

Brooklyn College

11/10/1996

12/6/2023




















